International Criminal Court

Agreement on the Privileges and Immunities of the International Criminal Court

Implementation Considerations

FEBRUARY 2003

The International Centre for Criminal Law Reform & Criminal Justice Policy (ICCLR)

1822 East Mall, Vancouver, British Columbia V6T 1Z1 CANADA Tel: + (604)-822-9875 Fax: + (604)-822-9317 E-Mail: icclr@law.ubc.ca http://www.icclr.law.ubc.ca



© 2003 ICCLR

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This guide was prepared by Eileen Skinnider, LLM, Research Associate and Project Manager, International Criminal Court Project, The International Centre for Criminal Law Reform and Criminal Justice Policy (ICCLR). ICCLR wishes to express its appreciation to the Government of Canada for its financial support of this project, granted through the Department of Foreign Affairs & International Trade (DFAIT). A special thank you is also extended to the ICC project team at ICCLR for its contribution: Joanne Lee, Research Associate, Daniel Préfontaine, Senior Associate and former Project Manager, Frances Gordon, Executive Director and Monique Trépanier, Program Coordinator.

In addition, ICCLR would like to acknowledge the following experts who provided invaluable comments on the draft of this document:

Hugh Adsett, Deputy Director, Environmental Law Section Department of Foreign Affairs and International Trade, Canada

Håkan Friman, Deputy Director, Swedish Ministry of Justice, and Former Associate Judge of Appeals, Sweden.

Ken Gallant, Professor of law and member of the advisory board International Criminal Defence Attorneys Association (ICDAA)

Elise Groulx, Attorney at law and President International Criminal Defence Attorneys Association (ICDAA)

Cecilia Nilsson Kleffner, Legal Research Officer Coalition for the International Criminal Court (CICC)

Valerie Oosterveld, Legal Officer Department of Foreign Affairs and International Trade, Canada

Mike Perry, Legal Officer Department of Foreign Affairs and International Trade, Canada

Darryl Robinson, Legal Officer Department of Foreign Affairs and International Trade, Canada

The analysis and recommendations in this document do not necessarily reflect the views of any of these individuals nor the organisations they represent.

We are pleased to share this information with you and encourage you to use this document for research and educational purposes. Please ensure that all credits are acknowledged when using all or any information within the document.

Commercial reproduction of this document is prohibited.

NOTES ON THE CONTRIBUTORS

The International Centre for Criminal Law Reform and Criminal Justice Policy (ICCLR) was founded in 1991 and is based in Vancouver, Canada. ICCLR conducts research and policy analysis, undertakes the development and delivery of technical assistance programs and provides public information and consultation services relating to the fields of international criminal law, criminal justice policy, and crime prevention. In its role as an affiliated institute of the United Nations, ICCLR participates in the annual meetings of the United Nations Commission on Crime Prevention and Criminal Justice, and the meeting of the institutes comprising the United Nations Crime Prevention and Criminal Justice Programme network. ICCLR has also established numerous co-operative working relationships with other international bodies, institutes and associations.

Since 1992, ICCLR has been actively committed to supporting global efforts in combating international crimes and prioritising the creation of a permanent, effective and just International Criminal Court (ICC). In March of 1993, ICCLR organised and sponsored *The International Meeting of Experts on the Establishment of an International Criminal Court*, which final report was transmitted to the United Nations Legal Office in New York and was used extensively in the design of the *ad hoc* International Criminal Tribunal for the Former Yugoslavia, as noted in the May 1993 Secretary General's Report.

In the ensuing years, ICCLR continued to develop its expansive collection of substantive and comprehensive ICC-related papers while participating in many negotiating conferences, including several United Nations ad hoc Committee meetings for the Establishment of the ICC in 1995 and Preparatory Committee meetings from 1996 to 1998. In 1998, ICCLR representatives participated in the United Nations Diplomatic Conference of Plenipotentiaries on the Establishment of the ICC. This landmark conference ultimately led to an overwhelming vote in favour of the adoption of a convention on the establishment of an international criminal court. ICCLR subsequently participated in the United Nations' periodic meetings of the Preparatory Commission for the ICC and the Assembly of States Parties meetings. Among the numerous ICC-related reports and guides developed by ICCLR are the *Manual for the Ratification and Implementation of the Rome Statute* (developed in cooperation with Rights & Democracy– formerly the International Centre for Human Rights and Democratic Development and available in Arabic, French, Portuguese, Russian, Spanish and Chinese), a *Checklist of Implementation Considerations and Examples under the Rome Statute*, and *Rules of Procedure and Evidence – Implementation Considerations*.

Since August 2000 ICCLR has been involved in organizing workshops to promote the expeditious establishment of a just and permanent ICC, and to assist countries in the development of legislation and administrative procedures to support the ICC. ICCLR has provided regional workshops with support from the Canadian International Development Agency (CIDA), the Department of Justice, and the Department of Foreign Affairs and International Trade and most recently provided country-specific ICC technical assistance to numerous countries with funding from the Department of Foreign Affairs and International Trade.

Eileen Skinnider is a Canadian lawyer who has been conducting international legal research for ICCLR since 1997. She has conducted research and contributed to the production of guideline documents relating to the elimination of violence against women, the effective prosecution of crimes against children, the international criminal court, and the application of international human rights standards and norms in Thailand and China. Between 2000 and 2002, Eileen also worked in Afghanistan and Sudan as a Humanitarian Affairs Officer for Médecins Sans Frontières. She has an LLM in Public International Law from the London School of Economics and Political Science, and an LLB from the University of Saskatchewan.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	I
NOTES ON THE CONTRIBUTORS	III
1. INTRODUCTION TO THE AGREEMENT ON THE PRIVILEGES AND IMMUNITIE THE INTERNATIONAL CRIMINAL COURT (APIC)	
 1.1. BACKGROUND TO THIS SUPPLEMENT. 1.2 PURPOSE OF THE GUIDE. 1.3 BACKGROUND TO PRIVILEGES AND IMMUNITIES. 1.4 RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN THE ROME STATUTE AND THE APIC. 1.5 OVERVIEW OF THE APIC . 	2 2 3 4
2. GENERAL ISSUES OF IMPLEMENTATION	6
 2.1 APPROACHES TO IMPLEMENTATION	6 7
3. SPECIFIC ISSUES OF IMPLEMENTATION	9
 3.1 PRIVILEGES AND IMMUNITIES RELATING TO THE LEGAL STATUS OF THE COURT	
4. OTHER ISSUES	31
4.1 SETTLEMENT OF DISPUTES	
APPENDIX I TABLE SUMMARY OF PRIVILEGES AND IMMUNITIES	
APPENDIX II SELECTED BIBLIOGRAPHY AND RESOURCES	
INTERNATIONAL DOCUMENTS AND TREATIES MATERIALS FROM THE WORKING GROUP ON PRIVILEGES AND IMMUNITIES OF THE COURT ARTICLES AND PAPERS LEGISLATION	34
APPENDIX III THE AGREEMENT ON PRIVILEGES AND IMMUNITIES	

1. Introduction to the Agreement on the Privileges and Immunities of the International Criminal Court (APIC)

1.1. Background to this Supplement

On 1 July 2002, the *Rome Statute of the International Criminal Court* entered into force, triggering the jurisdiction of the first ever permanent international criminal court. The International Criminal Court (ICC) is capable of investigating and prosecuting individuals accused of the most serious crimes of concern to the international community, namely genocide, crimes against humanity, war crimes, and once defined, the crime of aggression (article 5, *Rome Statute*).

Four years earlier, in 1998, during a diplomatic conference, the *Rome Statute* was adopted by 120 States. Also at that time, a Preparatory Commission (Prepcom) was established with the mandate to prepare proposals for the practical arrangements of the establishment and operation of the ICC (see Resolution F, *Final Act of the Rome Conference* – http://www.un.org/law/icc). From 1998 to 2002, the Prepcom drafted a series of agreements, all connected to one another, with the ICC at the centre. Some of these documents include:

- Rules of Procedure and Evidence;
- Elements of Crimes:
- Financial Rules and Regulations;
- Relationship Agreement between the Court and the United Nations;
- Basic Principles Governing a Headquarters Agreement;
- Rules of Procedure of the Assembly of States Parties; and
- Agreement on the Privileges and Immunities for the Court.

The entire network of agreements provides the framework within which the Court, as an independent institution, can be most effective. The Assembly of States Parties for the ICC met for the first time from 3-10 September 2002 and formally adopted these legal agreements.

One of the issues that the Precom had to address was the privileges and immunities of the Court and its representatives and when these privileges and immunities may be waived. The Court and its personnel require privileges and immunities to enable the ICC to operate effectively. Article 48, *Rome Statute* provides the basic principles for the privileges and immunities of the Court and of all the people who may be involved in the work of the Court. Paragraphs 3 and 4 of article 48 refer to an additional agreement needed to elaborate the privileges and immunities not detailed in the *Rome Statute*. The Prepcom was mandated to negotiate this agreement in Resolution F, *Final Act of the Rome Conference*. The agreement has now been adopted by the Assembly of States Parties, and is entitled the *Agreement on the Privileges and Immunities of the International Criminal Court (APIC)*. The *APIC* was opened for signature by all States as from 10 September 2002 at United Nations Headquarters in New York, and will remain open for signature until 30 June 2004. It will enter into force 30 days after the date of deposit of the tenth instrument of ratification (article 35, *APIC*).

States Parties will need to ratify and implement the *APIC* as soon as possible. The Court and its personnel will not be able to operate efficiently in the absence of protection from the *APIC* on

the territory of all States Parties. Furthermore, ensuring strong privileges and immunities for officials, personnel and participants will indicate that States Parties are committed to the *Rome Statute* and support the work being done on the Court's behalf by these individuals. Note that the *APIC* is also open for ratification by non-States Parties. Those States committed to the principles of international justice enshrined in the *Rome Statute*, but who have not yet decided to commit themselves to the *Rome Statute*, may wish to ratify the *APIC* as a way of assisting the ICC in a practical way, in the meantime.

1.2 Purpose of the Guide

The purpose of this Guide is to provide a general overview of all the provisions in the *APIC*. In addition, this Guide highlights the obligations of the *APIC* and provides some analysis on the implementation considerations for States. The Court is not a United Nations body, but a unique independent international institute and as such requires its own privileges and immunities regime. There are many similarities of the privileges and immunities elaborated in the *APIC* with those found in other treaties such as:

- The Convention on the Privileges and Immunities of the United Nations;
- The Protocol on the Privileges and Immunities of the International Seabed Authority;
- The Agreement on the Privileges and Immunities of the International Tribunal for the Law of the Sea;
- The Convention on the Privileges and Immunities of the Specialised Agencies; and
- The Headquarter Agreement of the International Tribunal for the Former Yugoslavia

(see Selected Bibliography and Resources).

This Guide will review the extent of the differences in order to assist States in ensuring that the Court and its personnel will be covered by State laws. However, it is important to remember the uniqueness of the ICC. It offers access for victims and their legal representatives in a manner unprecedented. It ensures the right to a fair trial, protecting the rights of the accused with equality of arms between the Prosecutor and defence counsel. Implementation of the *APIC* will be crucial to the effective functioning of the ICC, and may be carried out simply by amending existing legislation or supplementing legislation by decree.

1.3 Background to Privileges and Immunities

The purpose of the privileges and immunities of the Court, its personnel and officials and those participating in proceedings of the Court is to safeguard the integrity and autonomy of the Court. The *APIC* provides for privileges and immunities that are sufficient to ensure that the Court can function in a fair, independent and effective manner. This agreement affirms and defines the legal status of the Court and its staff. It recognises that privileges and immunities granted to the Court and persons functioning for the Court will greatly influence the way in which the Court will be able to function.

International law on privileges and immunities as well as the United Nations regime dealing with privileges and immunities is well established both in treaties and by custom. Why then is

there a need for a new agreement on privileges and immunities for the International Criminal Court as a court as well as for personal immunities for those involved in the Court? First of all, the Court is not an organ of the United Nations, unlike the International Criminal Tribunals for the Former Yugoslavia and Rwanda. Rather it is an independent treaty-based organsiation. This means the Court and its staff will not be covered under the current treaties on privileges and immunities which govern the United Nations, specialised agencies or the tribunals. However, there will be a special *Relationship Agreement between the Court and the United Nations*, which has an article concerning United Nations privileges and immunities and how they will be dealt with by the two institutions (article 19, *Draft Relationship Agreement*). The draft Relationship Agreement was adopted at the first Assembly of States Parties meeting in September 2002 and requires adoption by the United Nations General Assembly.

Secondly, international organisations or institutions, like the Court, are based on agreements concluded by Member States who find that the establishment of the organisation serves a mutually beneficial purpose. It therefore follows that those same States would ensure that the institution they established has the means to carry out the functions envisioned. Another reason is that the personnel serving the Court, especially in the field, will require the protection of a strong privileges and immunities regime.

The Court's headquarters is in The Hague and therefore there will be an arrangement to cover privileges and immunities between the Court and the Netherlands. To this end, the Assembly of States Parties adopted the *Basic Principles Governing a Headquarters Agreement to be Negotiated between the Court and the Host Country* in September 2002. An *Interim Headquarters Agreement* came into force 19 November 2002 and a finalised agreement is expected before the end of 2003. In addition, the *Rome Statute* foresees instances where the Court may sit outside its headquarters. No matter where the Court is sitting, its personnel and officials as well as other individuals participating in an investigation or prosecution will be required to travel and work in different countries. The Court will have to operate across borders, within areas of conflict and possibly against high-level government officials. The potential for exploitation, reprisals and vulnerability of personnel, officials, witnesses and victims has already been demonstrated by the experiences of persons involved in the work of the Yugoslavian and Rwandan international tribunals.

1.4 Relationship between the Rome Statute and the APIC

It is essential to note that the *Rome Statute* is the primary authority on the jurisdiction and functioning of the Court and all supplementary documents must be in accord with and subject to the Statute. The goal of the Court is to "put an end to impunity for the perpetrators of these crimes" and thereby contribute to the prevention of such crimes (Preamble, *Rome Statute*). Article 48, *Rome Statute* sets out three categories of persons and the types of privileges and immunities to which they are entitled. In general terms, these are:

- Judges, the Prosecutor, the Deputy Prosecutors and the Registrar will enjoy the same immunities as are accorded to heads of diplomatic missions (paragraph 2);
- The Deputy Registrar, staff of the Office of the Prosecutor and staff of the Registry will enjoy privileges, immunities and facilities necessary for the performance of their functions, in accordance with the *APIC* (paragraph 3);

• Counsel, experts, witnesses and any other person required to be present at the seat of the Court will enjoy such treatment as is necessary for the proper functioning of the Court, in accordance with the *APIC* (paragraph 4).

The *APIC*, while related to the *Rome Statute*, is a stand-alone agreement and an autonomous treaty. Some of the provisions in the *APIC* restate certain articles provided for in the *Rome Statute*. For example, article 48(1) "The Court shall enjoy in the territory of each State Party such privileges and immunities as are necessary for the fulfilment of its purpose" is replicated in article 3 of the *APIC*. This was done in contemplation of the fact that non-States Parties, including those that have signed but not yet ratified the *Rome Statute*, may ratify the *APIC*.

While article 48 of the *Rome Statute* and the *APIC* do contemplate a privileges and immunities regime, the regime is to ensure the effective functioning of the ICC globally by protecting the Court and individuals involved in its proceedings. The regime does not undermine the purpose of the ICC, that is, to put an end to impunity for the perpetrators of the most serious crimes of concern to the international community (preamble, *Rome Statute*). This is ensured by article 27(2) of the *Rome Statute*, wherein it states "immunities or special procedural rules which may attach to the official capacity of a person, whether under national or international law, shall not bar the Court from exercising its jurisdiction over such a person".

1.5 Overview of the APIC

The APIC can be divided broadly into 3 sections.

- 1. The first section (articles 2-12) deals with the privileges and immunities relating to the legal status of the Court. The issues surrounding the legal identity of the Court include judicial personality, territorial integrity, ownership and control of property, financial, taxation and communication privileges. This protected legal personality of the ICC is crucial for the Court's functioning both under international law and the domestic legal systems where the Court may be conducting proceedings.
- 2. The second section of the *APIC* (articles 13-32) deals with the representatives of States Parties, personnel and officers of the Court, experts, witnesses, victims and any other person required to be present at the seat of the Court. These articles cover in detail the extent of their privileges and immunities, conditions of exercise, waiving circumstances, and the settlement of disputes arising from the exercise of privileges. They recognise situations where staff of the Court as well as defence counsel, witnesses and other experts are undertaking work or merely passing through third countries.
- 3. The last section (article 32-38) contains the final dispositions common to most international agreements.

At the date of writing, the *APIC* is not yet in force. Twenty-five countries had signed the *APIC* (as of 10 February 2003) and two countries had deposited its ratification instrument (Norway and Trinidad & Tobago). For the current status of *APIC* check <u>http://untreaty.un.org/ENGLISH/bible/englishinternetbible/partI/chapterXVIII/treaty17.asp</u>.

The *APIC* will enter into force 30 days after the date of deposit of the tenth instrument of ratification. The importance of broad ratification of *APIC* cannot be understated. With the establishment of the Court on 1 July 2002 the smooth functioning of the Court will be further enhanced by the implementation of the provisions in *APIC* by all States.

2. General Issues of Implementation

2.1 Approaches to Implementation

The *APIC* is an international treaty, and as such, States need to consider whether ratification will require changes to their national laws or administrative procedures, to enable them to meet their obligations under the treaty. For example, States may need to ensure steps are taken to guarantee the Court will have the capacity that may be necessary to exercise its functions and fulfilment of its purpose in that State, such as the capacity to contract, acquire and dispose of property and participate in national legal proceedings. It is unlikely that most States will be involved either actively or regularly in the work of the ICC. When national authorities are involved however - even indirectly - it is important that they are able to act quickly, with the requisite legal authority already in place, in order to ensure that justice is done.

Each State's constitutional and legislative requirements will dictate the process of implementing international treaty obligations. This varies significantly from State to State. Every State Party to the *APIC*, whether following a monist or dualist system, is free to choose how it will implement its treaty obligations, provided it proceeds in good faith and the result is the fulfilment of the obligations under the Agreement. Some States generally ratify treaties first and then rules included in the treaty automatically become a part of national law upon ratification and publication in an official journal (monist system). Other States, especially those in the Commonwealth, are obliged by their constitutions to prepare implementing legislation before ratifying or acceding to any international treaties (dualist system). In dualist systems, States will be familiar with the legislation, regulations, decrees, executive orders or declarations, as well as the governmental process required to implement international treaties. In monist systems also, it is likely that the implementation of the *APIC* will involve some modifications to existing national laws. The precise form of the implementing law can be decided by each State.

The *APIC* provides minimum standards for the protection of the Court and for all those who need to contribute to its proceedings in order to have an effective legal institution. States may also take this opportunity to provide more extensive privileges and immunities to any of the groups listed below, if they wish. Examples of other treaties which provide more generous privileges and immunities are discussed throughout the remainder of the document.

2.2 Other Privileges and Immunities Regimes

In order to implement the obligations contained in the *APIC*, it is helpful to appreciate the drafting process of the agreement. In preparing the first draft Agreement discussion paper, a number of international treaties were used as templates, including the *Convention on the Privileges and Immunities of the United Nations*; Agreement on the Privileges and Immunities of the International Tribunal for the Law of the Sea; the Agreement concerning the Headquarters of the International Criminal Tribunal for the Former Yugoslavia; and the Privileges and Immunities of Members of the International Court of Justice. The Rome Statute and the APIC expressly refer to the Vienna Convention on Diplomatic Relations. Therefore, if

States are Parties to any of these treaties and have implemented their obligations there should be little difficulty to introduce these new provisions as an amendment to existing laws.

Most States will already have in place privileges and immunities legislation or regulations dealing with diplomatic relations, foreign missions, or international organisations. These pieces of legislation could be reviewed for amendment or States may enact a single piece of legislation that covers every aspect of implementation of the *APIC*. States could also use a hybrid approach. Because much of the *APIC* reflects standards found in other international treaties, the amount of implementing legislation required may be minimised. However, it is important to note that the *APIC* does go beyond the scope of existing privileges and immunities regimes as the scope of persons covered by the *APIC* include all those involved in investigations and proceedings before an international criminal court. The changes to the law should be disseminated widely once they come into force and may require training of relevant officials.

Where there are regional inter-State organisations, there also may exit regional treaties covering privileges and immunities that have been incorporated in implementing legislation. Such legislation may assist implementation of the *APIC*. In Africa, the *General Convention on the Privileges and Immunities of the Organisation of African Unity* provides for legal capacity for the Organisation in the territory of each of its Member States as well as immunities for the Organisation's representatives, officials and experts on mission. The Americas have a similar agreement: the *Agreement on Privilege and Immunities of the Organisation of American States*. In Europe, the *General Agreement on Privileges and Immunities of the Council of Europe* covers similar privileges and immunities. The *Protocol on Privileges and Immunities for the Caribbean Court of Justice* also has many similarities to those provision found in the *APIC*.

2.3 Relationship with the Implementation of the Rome Statute

It is important to bear in mind when implementing the *APIC* that the ICC is no ordinary international regulatory or institutional body. The Court is unique in its potential to deter and punish "the most serious crimes of concern to the international community as a whole" (article 5, *Rome Statute*). This potential can only be realised through the full cooperation of States Parties. An important aspect of that cooperation is to ensure that privileges and immunities are granted to the Court, its personnel and others who must appear before the Court during proceeds in other countries. Although the *APIC* has been modelled on existing treaties, the unique and potentially sensitive mandate of the Court must not be forgotten.

A number of States Parties have completed or are in the process of implementing the *Rome Statute*. In so doing, States may already have addressed the privileges and immunities of the Court and its personnel, officials and others, particularly those dealing with judges, the Prosecutor, Deputy Prosecutor and Registrar, as they are set out clearly in the *Rome Statute* (article 48). However, because the *Rome Statute* only contemplates – rather than establishes - an agreement on privileges and immunities, the obligations of the *APIC* may not be provided for in countries' ICC implementing legislations. Certain existing implementing legislations have "reserved" the right to issue regulations governing the privileges and immunities for the personnel and others involved in the proceedings of the Court in order to include those

contemplated in the *APIC*. Section 1(2) of Schedule 1 of United Kingdom's *International Criminal Court Act 2001* and section 54 of Canada's *Crimes Against Humanity and War Crimes* are two examples. Those provisions were drafted before the *APIC* was concluded. For those States currently in the process of preparing ICC implementing legislation, it would be more efficient to implement the *APIC* at the same time, since the *APIC* is expressly mentioned in the *Rome Statute*, and seeks to uphold the same principles of international justice established by the *Rome Statute*.

2.4 Introduction of New Procedures

Many States will also need to introduce new procedures in certain areas of the law, in order to ensure that they meet their obligations under the Agreement, given that the *APIC* includes implications for immigration, economic, labour and tax law. This will involve co-ordination between government departments and various branches of government. It would be advisable for a central authority designated to deal with the ICC to be familiar with the requirements of the *APIC*.

3. Specific Issues of Implementation

3.1 Privileges and Immunities relating to the Legal Status of the Court

3.1.1 Legal and juridical personality

Description

The Court has both international legal personality and juridical personality (article 4, *Rome Statute* and article 2, *APIC*). Juridical personality means legal capacity. The Court's legal capacity is limited to that which may be necessary for the exercise of its functions and fulfilment of its purposes. Both of these concepts - legal personality and juridical personality - are reflected in the *APIC* to emphasis the need for a strong, independent Court, able to exercise its functions effectively and without undue influence by States in its operation.

International legal personality ensures that the Court's rights, powers, and duties are separate from those of States. Legal personality allows the Court to enter into international agreements. The legal capacity allows the Court to enter into contracts and to acquire and dispose of immovable and movable property and participate in legal proceedings. The legal personality conferred on the Court by the *Rome Statute* and the *APIC* gives the Court a distinct identity under the law.

The Court's headquarters is in The Hague and the consequences of the Court's legal personality and capacity within the Netherlands will be dealt with in a separate Headquarters Agreement between the Court and the Netherlands (article 3, *Rome Statute*). However, it is anticipated that the Court may be required to conduct proceedings in the territory of other States (articles 3(3) and 62, Rome Statute). Accordingly, the Court can decide to hold hearings and trials anywhere in the world, in consultation with relevant national authorities. In addition, the Court may, following the example of the International Criminal Tribunals for the Former Yugoslavia and Rwanda, establish regional and national offices as needed, throughout the world for research, holding archives in secure locations and liasing with national officials. The Court, as an entity with its own legal personality can conclude arrangements with States concerning the provision of facilities for the exercise of its function (article 12, *APIC*).

Whether the Court operates in The Hague or in the territory of another State, there are a number of privileges and immunities that attach to the Court as a legal entity. These include legal regulations regarding taxation, custom duties, and requirements for permits and licences. These privileges and immunities will be discussed in more detail in the following pages. However, it is important to remember that the Court's legal personality and legal capacity are exercised in the domestic jurisdictions of those States Parties which gives rise to obligations of implementation. The Court's international legal personality would be worthless if the Court would not have the means to operate within the legal order of the States Parties.

The Court is entitled to display its flag, emblem and markings at its premises, be that in The Hague or any office the Court establishes in another State's territory. Vehicles and other means

of transportation used for official purposes can also have displayed the Court's flag, emblem and markings, at the Court's discretion. While States Parties must ensure that the Court is allowed to do so, such a privilege will probably not require specific implementation legislation.

Obligations

- When requested by the Court to sit in a territory outside the Netherlands, States Parties may need to negotiate an arrangement allowing the Court to sit and exercise the functions of the Court on their territory (article 3 and 12, *APIC*).
- States Parties must ensure that the Court can contract, acquire and dispose of property and participate in legal proceedings and any other action that may be necessary for the exercise of the Court's functions and the fulfilment of its purpose on their territory (article 2, *APIC*).

Implementation

In allowing the Court to sit on their territory, some States have enacted legislation that provides for the Head of State to declare any place in the country to be the seat of the Court, pursuant to certain procedures. Section 6 of South Africa's *Implementation of the Rome Statute of the International Criminal Court Act, 2002* is such an example.

Implementation obligations arise from guaranteeing the Court's legal capacity. The Court's legal capacity allows the Court to contract, to acquire and to dispose of movable and immovable property and to participate in legal proceedings. The phrase used in the *APIC* "to participate" in legal proceedings is broader than the standards reflected in other international treaties which provide "to institute" legal proceedings (such as article 1, *Convention on the Privileges and Immunities of the United Nations*). This allows the Court to be a party to legal proceedings as plaintiff and defendant, to sue and be sued. Any implementing legislation should reflect that the list of capacity activities is not meant to be exhaustive and can include other legal actions that will be necessary for the Court to exercise its functions and fulfil its purpose. One way of enacting this obligation is to allow the Head of State, by executive order to confer on the International Criminal Court the legal capacity equivalent to that of a corporation under national law. See section 1(1) of Schedule 1 of United Kingdom's *International Criminal Court Act 2001* for an example of this enactment.

As reflected in the discussions of the ICC Preparatory Commission Working Group, the concept of legal capacity means that States will not subject the Court to national jurisdiction or legislation, and the Court will consult national authorities when it needs to act. Implementing legislation should not restrict the Court in the exercise of its functions or fulfilment of its purpose and should reflect the fact the Court is not subject to national law.

3.1.2 Ownership and control of property privileges

Description

There are a number of privileges and immunities that must be ensured by States Parties that deal with the Court's ownership and control of property. Under the *APIC*, the Court's premises have been accorded the highest form of immunity – "inviolability" (article 4, *APIC*). This means that States Parties must abstain from exercising sovereign rights, including law enforcement rights, in respect of the premises of the Court. While the physical premises of the Court will be in The Hague, the Court may also establish offices outside its headquarters. States Parties should ensure that any premises of the Court located in their territory are immune from interference. The *Vienna Convention on Diplomatic Relations* defines "premises" to mean "the buildings or parts of buildings and the land ancillary thereto, irrespective of ownership, used for the purpose of…". In the finalised ICC Headquarters Agreement, the definition of "premises" may be slightly different and therefore guide the definition of "premises" in the *APIC*. Presumably, if the ICC has premises in other countries, an agreement as to what is meant by "premises" may be defined bilaterally.

The Court's other property, funds and assets are subject to a lesser form of immunity than inviolability. As a rule, the Court's property, funds and assets must be immune from every form of legal process except when the Court waives this immunity expressly (article 6, *APIC*). The waiver of immunity can not be extended to acts of execution. Execution includes searches, seizures, requisitions, confiscations, expropriations and any other form of interference, whether by executive, administrative, judicial or legislative action (article 6(2) *APIC*). The property, funds and assets are to be exempt from restrictions, regulations, controls or moratoria of any nature if it is necessary to carry out the functions of the Court. So, for example, this provision would not exempt the Court's property from health and safety law, as long as such laws would not hinder the Court from carrying out its functions. It does not matter where the property, fund or asset is located or who holds possession, as long as it is the property of the Court it should be covered by this immunity.

The Court's ownership and control of property extends to its archives and documents. Article 7 of the *APIC* requires States Parties to ensure that these archives and documents are inviolable. The agreement prescribes a broad range of materials as inviolable: the archives of the Court, all papers and documents in whatever form, and materials being sent to or from the Court, held by the Court or belonging to the Court, wherever located and by whomsoever held. This covers evidence, official or unofficial papers including notes, and documents in electronic or paper form, databases, videotapes and emails. This protection covers all documents needed in proceedings, including those documents provided to the Court but not belonging to the Court.

This provision anticipates the termination or absence of inviolability. For example, when a document has been returned from the Court to the sender, inviolability will cease. When that happens, States Parties must ensure that if there have been protective measures ordered by the Court, pursuant to the *Rome Statute* and the *Rules of Procedure and Evidence*, those orders must be respected.

Inviolability of the Court's archives and documents is an essential guarantee that protects the Court from intrusive inquiries by States that could undermine its independence and integrity. If documents were not defined as inviolable, they could easily be subject to possible interference or confiscation. The ICC is unique and its distinct function and nature of the role is recognised with providing inviolability of documents.

Obligations

- States Parties must ensure inviolability of the premises of the Court, if such premises are located in their territory (article 4).
- States Parties must ensure that when the Court's property, funds and assets are located in their territory or held by someone residing in their territory or subject to the State's jurisdiction, such property, funds or assets -
 - have immunity from every form of legal process, unless it is expressly waived by the Court. However, measures of execution can not be waived (article 6(1)).
 - have immunity from search, seizure, requisition, confiscation, expropriation and any other form of interference (article 6(2)).
 - be exempt from restrictions, regulations, controls or moratoria of any nature if it is necessary to carry out the functions of the Court (article 6(3)).
- States Parties must ensure that the Court's archives, all papers and documents in whatever form, and materials sent to or from the Court or held by the Court or belonging to it, wherever located and by whomsoever held are inviolable. When inviolability is terminated or absent, States Parties must ensure compliance with any Court ordered protective measures to which the materials may be subject (article 7).

Implementation

Most States have experience in granting inviolability to the premises of Embassies of other States and international organisations, their property, funds, assets, archives and documents. The ICC could be added to the list of international organisations already covered by national laws that ensure inviolability. Where the Court desires to sit outside its headquarters, the Court and the State, in whose territory the Court will sit can enter into an arrangement according to Article 12 of the *APIC*. Such an arrangement should guarantee the inviolability of the Court's premises.

Implementing the guarantee of inviolability for the Court's archives and documents should take into account the broad protections provided for in the *APIC*. Providing inviolability may assist States in cooperating with the Court when asked to submit papers or materials. Inviolability also prevents impeding the work of the Court, for example travel papers issued by the Court or evidence in the Court's possession could not be seized. Article 7 of the *APIC* dealing with inviolability of archives and documents reflects the uniqueness of a global Court in anticipating the termination of inviolability. As inviolability may cease in certain cases, States Parties may need to incorporate a mechanism by which they can ascertain whether any protective measures have been ordered by the Court and, if so, how such orders are to be respected. This provision is not found in other international treaties on privileges and immunities.

3.1.3 Financial and taxation privileges

Description

There are a number of financial and taxation privileges that States Parties must ensure that the Court could enjoy. The term "Court" includes its assets, income, property, its operations and transactions. Like all other privileges and immunities, these are designed to preserve the integrity and independence of the Court, given that the Court's funds and assets could be seriously reduced by the unilateral imposition of taxes by a State.

States Parties must ensure that the Court is exempt from any form of direct taxation (article 8, *APIC*). The exemption from taxes will not exempt the Court from charges for public utility services. The Court will also be exempt from custom duties and import and export restrictions (article 8(2)). In general, the Court shall not claim exemption from duties or taxes included in the price of property or services. For major purchases where there is identifiable duties or taxes, States Parties are to have appropriate administrative arrangements for the exemption of such charges or their reimbursement (article 9(1)). The Court is prohibited from selling goods purchased under such exemption or reimbursement, except under conditions agreed to with the State Party (article 8(3)).

States Parties may need to review export and import regulations to ensure that the Court is exempt from all prohibitions and restrictions on imports and exports in respect of articles imported or exported by the Court for official use (article 8(2), *APIC*). This would permit the Court to bring into States where it was sitting, evidence that would otherwise be considered contraband, including weapons, counterfeit currency, stolen property or bodies for the purpose of its proceedings or to return it to the place where it was found or to its rightful owner.

The Court is entitled to carry out freely certain financial activities, such as holding funds in any currency or gold and operate accounts in any currency; transfer its funds from one country to another; convert any currency into any other currency; and receive, hold, negotiate, convert or otherwise deal with bonds and other financial securities (article 10, *APIC*). In its financial transactions, the Court shall enjoy treatment rates of exchange not less favourable than that given by the State Party to any intergovernmental organisation or diplomatic mission (article 10(1)(d)). The concern here is that if the Court were treated less favourably, there could be considerable financial problems. Keeping the costs of the Court as low as possible, supports an effective Court.

Obligations

• States Parties must exempt the Court, its assets, income and other property and its operations and transactions from all direct taxes, but not taxes that are really charges for public utility services. The taxes from which the Court is exempt include -

- income tax;
- capital tax;
- corporate tax;
- taxes levied by local and provincial authorities (article 8).

• States Parties must provide the Court exemptions from all custom duties, import turnover taxes and prohibitions and restrictions on imports and exports when the Court is involved in official business, such as exporting publications. If the Court imports goods or purchases goods under exemption, the Court shall not sell or dispose of such property, unless the State Party and the Court have agreed to the terms for its sale or disposition (article 8(2) and (3)).

- In cases where the Court makes major purchases where there are identifiable duties or taxes, States Parties may need to have appropriate administrative arrangements for the exemption of such charges or reimbursement (article 9).
- In States Parties where currency rates fluctuate, States Parties must ensure that the Court is granted the same treatment for currency accorded to the most favoured intergovernmental organsiation or diplomatic mission. In States Parties where the currency rate is fixed, the Court is to enjoy that rate rather than any with additional charges (article 10).

Implementation

Many States that have implemented into domestic law various international treaties on privileges and immunities have provisions in their national laws for granting exemption to United Nations agencies or international organisations exemptions from taxes, custom duties and import or export restrictions. The addition of the ICC should not cause too much difficulty. States Parties may have to review national laws and regulations regarding taxation, international trade (import and export), and currency exchange in order to ensure compliance with the *APIC*.

To comply with the *APIC*, there are a variety of taxes that States may need to review to ensure that the Court is exempt. Such taxes include all direct taxes, for instance, income tax, capital tax, corporate tax, taxes levied by local and provincial authorities, and import turnover tax as well as indirect taxes on movable and immovable goods. Where a tax is in reality a charge for public utility services, then the State does not need to exempt the Court for such "taxes" if these can be specifically identified, described and itemised.

In cases where the Court is purchasing property or services, the Court shall not claim exemption from duties or taxes, which are included in the price. An exception is when the Court makes a major purchase where there are identifiable duties or taxes. This exception obliges States Parties to have appropriate administrative arrangements for the exemption of such charges or payment of a reimbursement. This would not include taxes that may be such a part of the purchase price as to be unidentifiable, such an exemption would place an overwhelming burden on States requiring an altering of their manufacturing taxing system. States Parties may determine the definition of "major purchases" and identify the governmental authority to decide the exception to the rule on indirect taxes.

When the Court imports or purchases goods under an exemption, they cannot be sold or disposed of in the territory of a State Party, except under certain conditions that have been agreed to by the State Party which granted the exemption or reimbursement. States Parties may set out the conditions where this would be allowed.

In some States, currency rates fluctuate while in others these rates are fixed. If there are favourable exchange rates, these rates should be given to the Court. If there are not favourable exchange rates, then the State should ensure that the Court enjoys the normal exchange rate and also means that it should not be charged extra.

3.1.4 Communication privileges

Description

All aspects of the Court's official communications and correspondence should be treated by States Parties the same as diplomatic or intergovernmental communications (article 11, *APIC*). Therefore, the Court is entitled to treatment not less favourable than that given to diplomats and intergovernmental organisations in matters of priorities, rates, and taxes. States Parties to the *APIC* may need to ensure that they do not censor any of the Court's communications. States Parties are obliged to ensure that official communication and correspondence of the Court are inviolable. This covers both the means of communication as well as method. Means of communication can include electronic communication, codes or cipher. Methods of communication can include courier or sealed bags. Anything less may be seen to hamper the activities of the Court.

It is foreseen that a Prosecutor or other staff of the Court will have business outside the headquarters of the Court. There will be a need for radio or other telecommunications. Therefore to ensure the effective functioning of the Court, the Court has the right to apply to operate radio and other telecommunications equipment on any frequencies allocated to it by the States Parties (article 11(5)). Allocation would be in accordance with States' national procedures. States Parties are to endeavour to allocate to the Court, to the extent possible, the frequencies for which it has applied. This provision does not mean that States Parties must commit radio waves for the Court on registered frequencies but rather that the Court is allowed to transmit on licensed waves. Each State Party may set the fees.

Some States have noted that since the Court does not have its own frequencies, it may limit the Court. At the first Assembly of States Parties meeting in New York in September 2002, it was discussed whether the Assembly should authorise the Court to seek a special dispensation with the International Telecommunication Union (ITU) so that the Court can establish its own frequencies. Alternatively, the Assembly could consider including a provision in the Relationship Agreement with the United Nations which would allow the Court to operate its radio and telecommunication equipment on frequencies registered with the United Nations.

The Court's communication privileges will be able to enhance information outreach programmes. These programmes can sensitise potential witnesses to the functioning of the Court and make the proceedings more accessible to the general public. Public telecommunication can help to bridge the remoteness of the Court from the turbulent post-conflict regions over which they will have jurisdiction.

Obligations

- In terms of rates, taxes and priority matters applicable to mail and other various forms of communication and correspondence for official purposes, States must ensure that the Court is treated not less favourably than any intergovernmental organisation or diplomatic mission in the territory of the State (article 11(1) and (4)).
- States must ensure the inviolability of official communications or correspondence of the Court and that they are not censored (article 11(2) and (3)).
- States must endeavour to allocate to the Court, to the extent possible, frequencies for radio or other telecommunications equipment in accordance with States' national procedures (article 11(5)).

Implementation

International treaties on privileges and immunities have similar provisions dealing with communications, for examples see the *Convention on the Privileges and Immunities of the United Nations* or the *Agreement on the Privileges and Immunities of the International Tribunal for the Law of the Sea.* These treaties, like *APIC*, make reference to the treatment of intergovernmental organisation or diplomatic mission with respect to communication. The treatment of diplomatic missions is elaborated in the *Vienna Convention on Diplomatic Relations*.

The Vienna Convention includes the following provisions:

- protection of free communication of all official purposes, by any and all appropriate means, including diplomatic couriers and messages in code or cipher (article 27(1)and (2));
- consent of the receiving State must be obtained if a wireless transmitter is to be installed and used (article 27(1));
- States Parties must ensure that the diplomatic bag shall not be opened or detained when it bears external marks of their character. The sending State must ensure that the diplomatic bags contain only documents or articles intended for official use (article 27(3) and (4)); and
- States Parties should protect the diplomatic courier in the performance of his or her duties (article 27(5)).

States Parties may need to establish, review or apply national procedures already in place to allocate to the Court, to the extent possible, frequencies for radio or other telecommunications equipment within their territory.

3.2 Privilege and Immunities of Persons involved in the Court

3.2.1 General

The *APIC* confers protection upon representatives and participants of the Court for all activities undertaken in their official capacity or for the necessary functioning of the Court. It foresees instances where the Court may sit outside its Headquarters, where Prosecutors and counsel will

travel to the location of alleged crimes to investigate, where witnesses and victims must travel to the Court or where they may be passing through another country to their final destination. Without adequate privileges and immunities to afford protection, those persons representing or participating in the Court's work would be prevented from fulfilling their responsibilities, thereby hindering the work of the Court.

There are a number of actors in the Court system who are covered by the agreement. This section will divide them into four main groups:

- 1. Representatives of States;
- 2. Personnel and officers of the Court (Judges, Prosecutor, Deputy Prosecutors, Registrar, Deputy Registrar, staff of the Office of the Prosecutor, staff of the Registry);
- 3. Counsel and persons assisting defence counsel;
- 4. Experts, witnesses, victims and others.

Beyond the diplomatic immunity granted to judges, the Prosecutor, Deputy Prosecutor and Registrar, the guiding principle in setting out the privileges and immunities for each actor in the Court system is that of functionality. Each group needs sufficient privileges and immunities to carry out their functions within the ICC process. While diplomatic immunity is derived from the concept of state sovereignty, functional immunity is derived from the need to operate under difficult circumstances, for the ultimate benefit of the entire international community.

It should also be understood that the Court is to cooperate with the authorities of States Parties to facilitate the enforcement of their laws and to prevent abuses. At the same time, it is the duty of all persons enjoying privileges and immunities to respect the laws and regulations of the State Party in whose territory they may be on the business of the Court or passing through.

Privileges and immunities are not for the personal benefit of the persons but to allow them to carry out their assigned tasks. The *APIC* therefore provides for the possibility of waiver. Waivers may be imposed or renounced. The circumstances of when waivers will be imposed will be discussed in more detail in the following sections. However it should be remembered that immunities which attach to the official capacity of a person, whether under national or international law, should not bar the Court from exercising its jurisdiction over such a person. If there are reasonable grounds to believe that the person concerned is responsible for a crime within the Court's jurisdiction, the Court should not shield someone by not waiving immunity and that even without waiver by the ICC, the immunity as such does not bar proceedings against the person before the Court (article 27(2), *Rome Statute*)

For States Parties to be informed of who within their territory should be allowed privileges and immunities, the Registrar has a duty to communicate periodically to all States Parties, the categories and names of persons to which the provisions of the *APIC* shall apply, including the change of status of these persons. The categories and names of persons are limited to judges, the Prosecutor, Deputy Prosecutor, Registrar, Deputy Registrar, the staff of the Office of the Prosecutor, staff of the Registry and counsel. The Registrar is not obliged to communicate to States Parties the names of experts, witnesses, victims or other persons required before the Court. During the negotiations regarding the *APIC*, the Preparatory Commission Working Group recognised that for security reasons, some groups should have their identity concealed.

The waiver provisions balance the need to permit the Court to fulfil its mission with due regard for the safety of certain persons.

3.2.2 Representatives of States

Description

Non-States Parties to the *Rome Statute* can have representatives at the Assembly of States Parties and may also be required to appear before the Court, for example if an *ad hoc* co-operation agreement is reached. The privileges and immunities for representatives of States participating in the Assembly and its subsidiary organs and in the proceedings of the Court is not limited to States Parties to the *APIC*. Therefore, States Parties to the *APIC* must ensure that privileges and immunities extend to other States not party to the *APIC*. Representatives of States means all delegates, deputy delegates, advisors, technical experts and secretaries of delegations (article 1(d), *APIC*). Representatives of intergovernmental organisations mean the executive heads (article 1(n)).

The APIC covers:

- Representatives from States Parties to the *Rome Statute* attending meetings of the Assembly and its subsidiary organs;
- Representatives of other States that may be attending meetings of the Assembly and its subsidiary organs as observers (article 112(1), *Rome Statute*);
- Representative of States invited to meetings of the Assembly and subsidiary organs (see *Rules of Procedure of the Assembly of States Parties*);
- Representatives of intergovernmental organisations invited to meetings of the Assembly and subsidiary organs;
- Representatives of States participating in the proceedings of the Court.

Article 24 of the *APIC* expressly provides that these privileges and immunities are not for the personal benefit of the individuals themselves, but in order to safeguard the independent exercise of their functions in connection with their work. That means that States Parties have a duty to waive the privileges and immunities of their representatives in any case where, in the opinion of those States, they would impede the course of justice.

Obligations

- States Parties must ensure that representatives of States and intergovernmental organisations will enjoy certain privileges and immunities, while exercising their official functions and during their journey to and from the place of ICC meeting or proceedings of the Court. If the representative is a national of the States Party, then such privileges and immunities do not have to be provided to them (article 13 and 14, *APIC*).
- These privileges and immunities include:
 - immunity from personal arrest or detention (article 13(1)(a));
 - immunity from legal process in respect of words spoken or written and acts performed in their official capacity (article 13(1)(b));

• inviolability of all papers and documents (article 13(1)(c));

• the right to use codes or cipher, to receive papers and documents or correspondence by courier or in sealed bags (the use of codes and ciphers is not specified for all other persons working for the Court) (article 13(1)(d));

- exemption from immigration restrictions, alien registration requirements and national service obligations (article 13(1)(e));
- currency and exchange facilities privileges (article 13(1)(f));
- immunity in respect to their personnel baggage (article 13(1)(g));
- protection and repatriation facilities (article 13(1)(h));
- other privileges and immunities not inconsistent with those that diplomatic agents enjoy, except cannot claim exemption from custom duties on goods imported or from excise duties or sales taxes (article 13(1)(i));
- in determining periods of residency for taxation purposes, the period during attending a meeting will not be considered as periods of residence (article 13(2)).

Implementation

It should not be difficult for States Parties to implement their obligations, considering that most States will already have in place general privileges and immunities legislation or regulations, and legislative amendments could be made to specifically recognise the representative of States or intergovernmental organisations. The *Vienna Convention* is specifically referred to in a number of the provisions of the *APIC*. What States need to be aware of are the similarities as well as the difference if they are to ensure that they meet their legal obligations once they become States Parties to the *APIC*. Article 13(i) of the *APIC* provides that representatives of States and intergovernmental organisations should enjoy, not only those privileges and immunities listed in (a) to (h) but also enjoy other privileges, immunities and facilities that diplomatic agents enjoy, as long as they are not inconsistent with (a) – (h). However whatever these other privileges and immunities are, the representatives will not have the right to claim exemption from custom duties on goods imported or from excise duties or sales taxes.

A review of both representatives under the *APIC* and diplomatic agents under the *Vienna Convention* is set out below:

- Diplomatic agents under the *Vienna Convention* enjoy inviolability of the person, which includes immunity from personal arrest or detention; representatives under the *APIC* enjoy immunity from personal arrest or detention (article 13(a));
- Diplomatic agents enjoy broad protection from criminal and civil proceedings; the *APIC* is narrower to include only immunity from legal process of every kind in respect of acts performed (including words spoken or written) in their official capacity (article 13(b));
- Diplomatic agents enjoy inviolability of their papers and correspondence. In the *Vienna Convention*, the Receiving State must permit and protect free communications and ensure inviolability of archives and documents of the mission. This is replicated in the *APIC* which ensures representatives inviolability of all papers and documents in whatever form and the right to use codes or ciphers and to receive papers and documents or correspondence by courier or in a sealed bag (article 13(c) (d));
- The personal baggage of a diplomatic agent is to be exempt from inspection, unless there are serious grounds for presuming that it contains items that are not related to the official use

of the mission or for personal use. The *APIC* refers specifically to the *Vienna Convention* with respect to immunities for personal baggage (article 13(g));

• In case of armed conflict, the Receiving State must grant facilities in order to enable persons, other than nationals, and their families, to leave at the earliest possible moment. It must, in particular, in case of need, place at their disposal the necessary means of transport for themselves and their property. The *APIC* specifically refers to the same protection and repatriation facilities in *Vienna Convention* (article 13(h)).

The provisions in the *APIC* regarding immigration and alien requirements and currency and exchange privileges are similar to those provisions in the *Convention on the Privileges and Immunities of the United Nations*, rather than the *Vienna Convention*. Therefore these provisions may require specific implementation within national laws as well as review of administrative regulations dealing with immigration and currency and exchange.

3.2.3 Personnel and officers of the Court

Description

Personnel and officers of the ICC will likely be serving the Court in territories where genocide, crimes against humanity and war crimes have occurred. They will find themselves on duty in difficult situations before the Court and in the field. Appropriate privileges and immunities for its personnel and officers enables the Court to investigate and prosecute these crimes, while ensuring the functioning of the Court, guaranteeing the right to a fair trial and the safety of its personnel and officers.

In the *APIC*, relevant personnel are divided into a number of groups, all of whom are essential to the proper functioning of the Court. While the privileges and immunities granted for each category differs, there are also many similarities. The categories are as follows:

- Judges, the Prosecutor, Deputy Prosecutors and Registrar (article 15);
- Deputy Registrar, staff of the Office of the Prosecutor and staff of the Registry (article 16);
- Personnel recruited locally (article 17).

Officers and personnel of the Court, such as the Deputy Registrar and the staff of the Offices of the Prosecutor and the Registry, shall enjoy such privileges and immunities and facilities as are necessary for the independent performance of their functions. Situations may include occasions where they are in the territory of a State Party on business of the Court, or passing through on such business. However, judges, the Prosecutor, Deputy Prosecutors and Registrar enjoy the same immunities as are accorded to heads of missions, safeguarding them against any political motivated allegations or any reprisals after retirement.

There are a number of different situations in which officers and personnel of the Court may find themselves. The *APIC* anticipates that officers of the Court may be residing at the seat of the Court. Generally this will be in The Netherlands, however the Court could at times sit outside the headquarters. It also recognises that officers may be residing in a neighbouring country but doing work for the Court at its seat. Certain officers of the Court, such as the Prosecutor and his or her staff, could be undertaking work in many countries or merely passing

through third countries to collect and preserve evidence, take testimonies or statements. They will need to move quickly and be able to be operational in conflict or post-conflict areas. The prosecution team likely will have to communicate across borders to potential witnesses, victims, and members of their teams. Personnel recruited locally will include those recruited in The Netherlands but also in other countries where the Court may open regional offices or sit outside headquarters.

A word about persons recruited locally as this group performs functions of a general and supportive nature for the Court, which however small is important for the function of the Court. Persons recruited locally can include translators or people who deal with documentation of the Court and may be paid on an hourly rate or on some other basis. They can be recruited from conflict or post-conflict countries where the Court will be working. They may be one of the most vulnerable groups of personnel of the Court. During their employment, they shall also be accorded such other facilities as may be necessary for their independent exercise of their functions for the Court (article 17, *APIC*).

As previously mentioned, States Parties will receive notification from the Registrar on the categories and names of persons to which States Parties must allow privileges and immunities within their territory (article 28, *APIC*). Such categories include Judges, the Prosecutor, Deputy Prosecutors, Registrar, Deputy Registrar, the staff of the Office of the Prosecutor and staff of the Registry.

Also, as previously mentioned, privileges and immunities are not for the personal benefit of the individual but rather to allow the person to carry out his or her assigned tasks. Article 26 of *APIC* established the scheme relating to waivers:

- for Judges or the Prosecutor, waivers must be agreed by an absolute majority of the judges;
- for the Registrar, waivers are decided by the Presidency;
- for the Deputy Prosecutors and staff of the Office of the Prosecutor, waivers are determined by the Prosecutor;
- for the Deputy Registrar and the staff of the Registry, waivers are decided by the Registrar;
- for locally recruited personnel, waivers are determined by the head of the organ of the Court employing such personnel.

Obligations

• States Parties must provide the following privileges and immunities to each group:

Privilege & immunity	Judges, Prosecutor, Deputy Prosecutor, Registrar			
legal protection				
from personal arrest and detention	yes, when engaged on or with respect to the business of the Court (then extended to include family, art 37 Vienna Convention) derived from Vienna Convention	yes	no	
from legal process of every kind in respect of words spoken or written and acts performed by them	yes, in their official capacity	yes, in their official capacity	yes, in their official capacity	
communication privileges				
inviolability of all official papers and documents in whatever form and materials	yes, derived from Vienna Convention, (extended to include family, art 37 Vienna Convention)	ivention, (extended to ude family, art 37 Vienna		
right to receive and send papers and documents in whatever form	not expressly stated but derived from Vienna Convention	not expressly stated	no not expressly, but if necessary for the independent exercise of their function	
taxation privileges				
exempt from taxation on all salaries, etc	yes	yes	no	
period of residency should not be calculated for taxes	yes	no	no	
right to import free of duties and taxes	not expressly stated in APIC but included in Art 36(b) Vienna Convention	yes	no	
travel/freedom of movement				
exemption from immigration restrictions, alien registration and national service yes, derived from Vienna Convention (extended to include family)		yes, includes family for immigration and alien exemption	no	
urrency and exchange facilities yes, as accorded to heads of missions		yes, as accorded to officials of comparable rank of diplomatic missions	no	
personal baggage- exemption from seizure and inspection	yes	yes	no	
protection and repatriation facilities	yes, also includes family	yes, also includes family	no	

Implementation

States Parties can implement these privileges and immunities either incorporating these provisions into existing legislation or drafting new legislation. In order to ensure all the privileges and immunities will be covered, the following will review each type of privilege and immunity and reflect on the differences and similarities between the groups of personnel and officials of the Court.

Legal protection privileges include immunity from personal arrest and detention and from legal processes of every kind. These privileges secure freedom of speech and independence in the discharge of their functions. This also ensures confidentiality of communications between officials and others. States Parties must ensure that all personnel and officers of the Court, except for locally recruited personnel, have immunity from personal arrest and detention. This is expressly so for the Deputy Registrar, the staff of the Office of Prosecutor and the staff of the Registry (article 16(1)(a)). For judges, the Prosecutor, Deputy Prosecutors and the Registrar,

while not expressly stated, the fact that they are accorded privileges and immunities similar to heads of missions, include the inviolability of the person, which includes immunity from personal arrest and detention (article 15(1)). States Parties must also ensure that all personnel and officials, including those locally recruited, have immunity from legal process of every kind in respect of words spoken or written and acts performed by them in their official capacity for the Court (article 15(1), article 16(1)(b) and article 17). Immunity is to continue even after termination of employment. For locally recruited personnel, immunity after termination is only in relation to those activities he or she performed on behalf of the Court.

Communication privileges include inviolability of papers and documents and the right to receive and send papers and documents. States Parties must ensure all official papers and documents in whatever form and materials should be inviolable for the Deputy Registrar and the staff of the Office of the Prosecutor and the staff of the Registry (article 16(1)(c)). As for judges, the Prosecutor, Deputy Prosecutors and Registrar, such inviolability is indirectly provided through the reference to the *Vienna Convention* as being a privilege granted to heads of mission (article 15(1)). Also mentioned in the *Vienna Convention* is the protection of free communication for all official purposes, using appropriate means of communication, such as diplomatic couriers and messages in code or cipher.

Privileges relating to travel and freedom of movement include exemption from immigration restrictions, alien registration and national service, limited immunities relating to personal baggage, fair treatment of currency and exchange facilities and repatriation facilities in times of crisis. For judges, the Prosecutor, Deputy Prosecutors and Registrar, the provision dealing with freedom of movement is very broad. It ensures that they, along with members of their families forming part of their household, shall be allowed every facility for leaving the country where they may happen to be and for entering and leaving the country where the Court is sitting and when on journeys in connection with the exercise of their function (article 15(2)). This is similar to those granted to diplomatic agents. If one of this group resides in any State Party for the purpose of being at the disposal of the Court, then they and their family should have diplomatic privileges and immunities (article 15(3)). This of course refers to a State other than that of which he or she is a national or permanent resident. Such privileges relating to travel and freedom of movement are more limited when it comes to the Deputy Registrar and staff of the Office of the Prosecutor and staff of the Registry. This group is exempt from national service obligations and, along with their family, exempt from immigration restrictions and alien registration (article 16(1)(e) and (f)).

The Deputy Registrar, staff of the Office of the Prosecutor and staff of the Registry are entitled to the same privileges in respect of currency and exchange facilities as are accorded to officials of comparable rank of diplomatic missions established in the State Party (article 16(1)(h)). In terms of repatriation facilities in times of international crisis, staff to the judges should be accorded the same facilities as diplomatic agents under the *Vienna Convention* (article 15(4) and 16(1)(i), *APIC*). This also includes their family members. Also they have the same immunity from seizure of personal baggage and exemption from inspection of personal baggage unless there are serious grounds for believing the baggage contains import or export articles that are prohibited by the State Party (article 15(1) and 16(1)(a) and (g)).

Taxation privileges include exemption from taxation on the salaries, emoluments and allowances paid to people by the Court. This exemption is for the personnel of the Court who are receiving salaries from the Court and includes judges, the Prosecutor, Deputy Prosecutors, Registrar, Deputy Registrar and staff of the Office of the Prosecutor and staff of the Registry. States Parties may take these salaries, emoluments and allowances into account for the purpose of assessing the amount of taxes to be applied to income from other sources (article 15(6) and 16(1)(d)). During the negotiations for the *APIC*, it was felt that there should not be a complete exemption from tax unless there would be some internal tax levied by the Court, similar to the United Nations system. Also, States Parties are not obliged to exempt from income tax pensions or annuities paid to this group of personnel of the Court provides a pension system, exemption from income tax should not be on the pension. In some States, the incidence of taxation depends on residency. In those cases, for judges, the Prosecutor, Deputy Prosecutors and Registrar, the time spent in States for the purpose of discharging their functions, should not be considered as periods of residence for the purpose of taxation (article 15(6)).

Once the Court establishes its own social security scheme, the personnel of the Court shall be exempt from all compulsory contributions to national social security schemes (article 27). This seeks to avoid double contribution so that personnel of the Court will not be forced to pay social security contributions in the State in which they operate as well as in their home country.

States Parties may want to introduce administrative procedures that will ensure that notification from the Registrar is received, recorded and disseminated to the appropriate authorities, including immigration and custom officials. A system for being able to review whether waivers have been made should also be in place.

3.2.4 Counsel and persons assisting defence counsel

Description

The *Rome Statute* recognises both the vital role of victims in the ICC proceedings and the need to protect the rights of the accused. Under articles 67 and 68 of the *Rome Statute*, each party is entitled to legal representation, in order to protect their respective interests. Under the *APIC*, "counsel" means defence counsel and the legal representatives of victims in accordance with Rules 22 and 90 of the *Rules of Procedure and Evidence* (article 1(1), *APIC*). Persons assisting counsel can include investigators and others who are connected with the function of representing parties before the Court. Counsel can set up teams which may be required to travel to locations where they can examine evidence presented by the prosecution and gather their own evidence, as provided in articles 56(2)(d) and 57(3)(d) of the *Rome Statute*. Potential witnesses and victims could be refugees or internally displaced persons, thereby requiring counsel to travel in the difficult terrain of refugee status. Counsel will likely be communicating across borders to potential witnesses, victims, and members of their teams.

The privileges and immunities protect the independence of counsel and those who are part of the defence team. These privileges and immunities also allow counsel to carry out their duties efficiently at the seat of the Court and at places where investigation and other activities need to take place. The principle of equality of arms is recognised in the *APIC* in ensuring that the privileges and immunities to be enjoyed by counsel reflect international standards for a fair trial. Counsel must be able to act in a manner that is "necessary for the proper functioning of the Court" (article 18, *APIC*). This includes representation of the client in Court, confidential communications with the client, investigation on site in person or through investigators, to collect evidence and interview witnesses wherever necessary in a timely manner. While the relationship between counsel and client is recognised by most legal systems, international privileges and immunities for an accused's counsel or victim's counsel may be a new concept for some national authorities. Therefore dissemination and training will be important.

For counsel, the Registrar is to provide a certificate for the period required for the exercise of his or her functions. This is to ensure that authorities in States Parties are informed that counsel has been retained and therefore are entitled to the privileges and immunities in the *APIC*. The wording is broad to cover from the moment the counsel represents the interest of the defence to the final determination on appeal, as well as post-conviction representation. For counsel and persons assisting defence counsel, the Presidency can waive the privileges and immunities.

Obligations

• States Parties must provide the following privileges and immunities to this group:

Privilege & immunity	Counsel and persons assisting Defence Counsel
legal protection	
from personal arrest and detention	yes
from legal process of every kind in respect of words spoken or	yes, in their official capacity
written and acts performed by them	
communication privileges	
inviolability of all official papers and documents in whatever	yes, with materials relating to the exercise of his or her function
form and materials	
right to receive and send papers and documents in whatever form	yes, for communication in purs to function as counsel
taxation privileges	
exempt from taxation on all salaries, etc	no
period of residency should not be calculated for taxes	yes
right to import free of duties and taxes	no
travel/freedom of movement	
exemption from immigration restrictions, alien registration and	yes for immigration and alien registration but not exempt for national
national service	service
currency and exchange facilities	yes, as accorded to representatives of foreign governments on
	temporary official mission
personal baggage- exemption from seizure and inspection	yes
protection and repatriation facilities	yes

Implementation

As previously mentioned, States Parties can implement these privileges and immunities either incorporating these provisions into existing legislation or drafting new legislation. In order to ensure all the privileges and immunities will be covered for each actor under the ICC, a table at Appendix I summaries and compares the privileges and immunities to be ensured for each actor.

Legal protection privileges includes immunity from personnel arrest and detention and from legal processes of every kind. States Parties must ensure that counsel and persons assisting

defence counsel enjoy these privileges, which secures freedom of speech, independence and protection in the discharge of their functions (article 18(1)(a) and (b)).

Communication privileges include inviolability of papers and documents and the right to receive and send papers and documents. States Parties must ensures that counsel and persons assisting defence counsel enjoy inviolability for those papers, documents and materials related to the exercise of his or her function (article 18(1)(c)). The *APIC* expressly provides for counsel to be guaranteed the right to receive and send papers and documents in whatever form, for the purposes of communication in pursuance of his or her function as counsel (article 18(1)(d)). This guarantees counsel the ability to communicate with the client in confidence and to maintain confidential files and channels of communication, be they in different States.

Privileges relating to travel and freedom of movement include exemption from immigration restrictions, alien registration, limited immunities relating to personnel baggage, fair treatment of currency and exchange facilities and repatriation facilities in times of crisis. States Parties must ensure that counsel are exempt from immigration restrictions and alien registration (article 18(1)(e)). This is more limited than similar exemptions to the Deputy Registrar and staff as such exemption also includes their family members as well as an exemption from national service obligations. States Parties must ensure that the same immunities from seizure of personal baggage and exemption from inspection of personal baggage for judges, etc are granted to counsel (article 18(1)(a) and (f)). Counsel are entitled to the same privileges in respect of currency and exchange facilities as are accorded to representatives of foreign governments on temporary official missions (article 18(1)(g)). In terms of repatriation facilities in times of international crisis, counsel must be accorded the same as diplomatic agents under the *Vienna Convention*, but does not include their family members (article 18(1)(h)).

Taxation privileges. Counsel and those assisting defence counsel are not paid personnel of the Court and therefore are not provided exemption from taxation on salaries. However, in some States where the incidence of taxation depends on residency, in those cases where counsel and persons assisting defence counsel are involved, the time spent in States for the purpose of discharging their function should not be considered as periods of residence for the purpose of taxation (article 18(3)).

3.2.5 Experts, witnesses, victims and others

Description

The *APIC* sets out functional immunities for experts, witnesses, victims and other persons required to be present at the seat of the Court. These groups have been separated based on their function and role within the proceedings of the Court and should be provided with such privileges and immunities as are necessary for the proper functioning of the Court, which includes the time spent on journeys in connection with their functions. While the privileges and immunities are similar, they are not the same.

The ICC allows access for victims in a manner unprecedented, providing for participation and legal representation in the proceedings before the Court. The *APIC* distinguishes between

victims and witnesses, as witnesses can include both prosecution and defence witnesses. However, victims who also appear as witnesses are covered by those privileges. In recognising that victims and witnesses may need additional support, persons who accompany them are also to be ensured privileges and immunities. The privileges and immunities for each of these groups reflect the need for protection and safety as well as access to the Court.

The *APIC* recognises that these persons can be present at the seat of the Court or away from it. The Court may sit elsewhere than at the seat of the Court in the Netherlands as well as operate regional offices in various States. This covers different scenarios, for instance experts on mission for the Court whose services are required in the field and not necessarily at the seat of the Court, such as forensic experts, investigators, or information technologists. It can also include victims and witnesses who provide oral statements to investigators or testify before the Court through video-link within their country or some third country, or give depositions before national courts for use by the ICC. Victims and witnesses could be refugees living in camps in the diaspora or in countries around the world. The *APIC* can cover persons who otherwise cooperate with the Court, such as people who assist investigators to locate the whereabouts of a witness or suspect. Other persons required to be present at the seat of the Court and victims and witnesses, as well as people accompanying minors or vulnerable victims and witnesses who may have difficulty travelling on their own and need support in providing testimony.

Experience from international criminal tribunals has shown that experts, witnesses and victims, due to the nature of their work or role, can be extremely vulnerable. Privileges and immunities provide a measure of protection in addition to the protection measures described in the *Rome Statute* (article 93(1)(j) and (2), *Rome Statute*). Experts in the field, due to the conditions under which their work is often carried out, have come under attack in the past. Witnesses and victims include those who have already suffered greatly as a result of armed conflicts, often having lost family members, property, and employment. They could be at great risk in view of their testimony.

Experts, witnesses, victims and others will be provided by the Court with a document certifying that their appearance or participation is required by the Court and specifying a time period during which such appearance or participation is necessary. The Court is the one that requests the attendance of the witness and certifies that the presence is required with this document. States Parties may need to establish mechanisms or procedures wherein the documents will be identifiable by the appropriate authorities, such as immigration officers, custom officers, etc. Waiver for witnesses, victims and others will be done by the Presidency. For experts, waiver is at the discretion of the head of the organ of the Court appointing the experts.

Obligations

• States Parties must provide the following privileges and immunities to each group:

Privilege & immunity	Witnesses	Victims	Experts	Other persons required to be present at the seat of the Court
legal protection				
from personal arrest and detention	yes	yes	yes	yes
from legal process of every kind in respect of words spoken or written and acts performed by them	yes, in the course of their testimony	yes, in the course of their appearance before the court	yes, in the course of the performance of their functions for the court	yes, in the course of their appearance before the court
communication				
privileges inviolability of all official papers and documents in	yes, relating to their testimony	no	yes, relating to their functions for the court	no
whatever form and materials				
right to receive and send papers and documents in whatever form	yes, for communications with the court and counsel	no	yes, for communications with the court (by courier or sealed bag)	no
taxation privileges				
exempt from taxation on all salaries, etc	no	no	no	no
period of residency should not be calculated for taxes	no	no	no	no
right to import free of duties and taxes	no	no	no	no
travel/freedom of				
movement				
exemption from immigration restrictions, alien registration and national service	yes for immigration and alien registration but not exempt for national service	yes for immigration and alien registration but not exempt for national service	yes for immigration and alien registration but not exempt for national service	yes for immigration and alien registration but not exempt for national service
currency and exchange facilities	no	no	yes	no
personal baggage- exemption from seizure and inspection	only exempt from seizure not inspection	only exempt from seizure not inspection	yes	only exempt from seizure not inspection
protection and repatriation facilities	no	no	yes	no

Implementation

States Parties can implement these privileges and immunities either incorporating these provisions into existing legislation or drafting new legislation. In order to ensure all the privileges and immunities will be covered, the following will review each type of privilege and immunity and reflect on the differences and similarities between each group.

Legal protection privileges includes immunity from personal arrest and detention and from legal processes of every kind. These privileges are similar for experts, witnesses, victims and others, reflecting the similar purpose of being before the Court (articles 19 to 22). Additional legal protection is provided for in article 93 of the *Rome Statute* wherein the Court shall have the authority to provide an assurance to a witness or an expert appearing before the Court that he or she will not be prosecuted, detained or subjected to any restriction of personal freedom by

the Court in respect of any act or omission that preceded the departure of that person from the requested State.

Communication privileges include inviolability of papers and documents and the right to receive and send papers and documents. Under the *APIC*, victims and others are not entitled to inviolability of their papers and documents nor do they have a right to receive and send paper and documents, whereas witnesses and experts do (articles 19 to 22). However, given the especially vulnerable position of victims and those who care for them, States may wish to provide full communication privileges to victims and others. Note that the Court itself is to have inviolability of its archives, documents and materials, which will provide a measure of protection for the victim and others.

Privileges relating to travel and freedom of movement include exemption from immigration restrictions, alien registration, limited immunities relating to personnel baggage, fair treatment of currency and exchange facilities and repatriation facilities in times of crisis. Experts are immune from seizure of baggage and exemption from inspection of baggage unless there are serious grounds for believing it contains items that are illegal for import or export (article 21(1)(a) and (e)). Witnesses, victims and others are not immune to inspection; however, personal baggage shall be exempt from seizure unless there are serious grounds (articles 19(1)(b), 20(1)(b), 22(1)). Each group enjoys the exemption from immigration restrictions or alien registration when they travel for the purpose of their function within the Court's process (articles 19 to 22). Only experts have privileges in respect to currency and exchange facilities (article 21(1)(f)). Victims and others do not have repatriation facilities in times of crisis available to them, where experts and witnesses do (article 19 to 22). However, States may wish to consider extending such facilities to victims within their APIC implementing legislation.

3.3 The Reservation

Description

The *APIC* allows States Parties to make a reservation at the time of signature, ratification, acceptance, approval or accession of this agreement (article 23). The reservation limits the privileges and immunities of personnel and officers of the Court, as well as witnesses, victims, experts and others, when they are nationals or permanent residents in the territory of a State Party of their nationality or permanent residence.

The privileges and immunities that various actors within the Court's jurisdiction enjoy ensure the protection for the person as well as ensuring the effective and unhindered functioning of this Court. It is important to note that limiting privileges and immunities in this case is an option open for States rather than being incorporated into the main agreement. This is because most States did not agree with the provision in question. This provision has the potential to interfere with the work of the ICC, by restricting the privileges and immunities of key actors in ICC proceedings. States Parties that are committed to the efficient functioning of the Court should review carefully whether such a reservation limits the effective operations of the Court, or violates the rights of their nationals. One of the reasons for this reservation is that in general, nationals and permanent residents may not enjoy in the State of their nationality or permanent residence the same privileges and immunities granted to persons under international law. However, in recognising that the ICC has a unique and special nature, and that the privileges and immunities are not based on nationality or sovereignty or on diplomatic relations, but on legal necessities to guarantee independence and a fair process, evolutions of existing practice of national and international law are necessary.

Under article 23 of the *APIC*, which allows for the reservation, in situations where the officials and personnel of the Court are nationals or permanent residents in a State Party, they would enjoy only the legal protection and communication privileges to the extent necessary for the independent performance of his or her functions. This covers immunity from personal arrest and detention; immunity from legal process of every kind in respect of words spoken or written and all acts performed in the performance of their functions for the Court; inviolability of documents; and the right to receive and send papers in whatever form. Counsel, persons assisting defence counsel, witnesses and experts who are nationals or permanent residents will also be limited to legal protection and communication privileges as described above. For the judges, Prosecutor, Deputy Prosecutor, Registrar, Deputy Registrar and the staff of both offices, no matter what their nationality will still remain entitled to tax exemption on their salaries, emoluments and allowances. Victims and other persons required to be present at the seat of the Court who are nationals or permanent residents would enjoy only legal protection privileges when they are in the territory of the State Party of their nationality or permanent residency.

3.4 Travel Documentation

Description

The *APIC* envisages that judges, the Prosecutor, Deputy Prosecutors, Registrar, Deputy Registrar, the staff of the Offices of the Prosecutor and staff of the Registry will be entitled to use the United Nations laissez-passer or travel documents issued by the Court (article 29). These travel documents, either United Nations or Court issued, are to take the place of ordinary travel documents and should be recognised and accepted by States Parties. It is important for the Court to be able to issue its own travel documents and for its officials to be seen as different to the United Nations personnel, such as peacekeepers, to ensure the independence of the Court.

Counsel, persons assisting defence counsel, experts, witnesses, victims and other persons required to be present at the seat of the Court are to be provided with a certificate or document by the Court which certifies that their appearance is required by the Court and specifies a time period during which such presence is necessary (article 18 to 22). By presenting this Court documentation to officials, the person should be able to obtain their own travel documents.

Many victims and witnesses may not have the necessary travel documents for their travel and this could be difficult for them to obtain. In collapsed States or States suffering from conflict, there may be no functioning passport offices. It can also be difficult, dangerous or even impossible for them to take a certificate issued by the Court to their own government, members of which may be implicated in the crimes being investigated or prosecuted, to obtain a passport, then go to the consulate or embassy of the Netherlands to obtain a visa, then to make the necessary travel arrangements and finally make the trip to The Hague. Many such persons are asylum seekers fearful of endangering their application for asylum to a second country without proper travel papers. Many are traumatised by the crimes committed against them and unable to make decisions on their own; others have never travelled outside their own villages or abroad; some are still in danger from those who fear their testimony. The Court should assist victims and witnesses in obtaining the necessary entry and exit permits and visas, where it may be difficult for them to be seen or known to be approaching the Dutch Embassy to obtain visas for their travel to The Hague or other States. Any States in a position to assist victims and witnesses with travel documentation should do so.

For those who are holding United Nations laissez-passer or travel documents issued by the Court or those who have a certificate of the Court which confirms that they are travelling on business of the Court, they may need to apply for visas or entry/exit permits. Where this is required, States Parties should ensure that they are dealt with as speedily as possible and granted free of charge (article 30).

Obligations

- States Parties must recognise and accept the United Nations laissez-passer and travel documents issued by the Court as valid travel documents (article 29).
- States Parties must ensure that applications for visas or entry/exit permits, where required, are dealt with as speedily as possible and granted free of charge (article 30).

Implementation

States Parties will most likely have to implement appropriate procedures to ensure that their officials can recognise and accept travel documents issued by the Court. Many States will likely have existing procedures in place for the recognition and acceptance of United Nations laissez-passer. States Parties may need to review the relevant laws, such as immigration laws, to ensure that applications for visas and exit/entry permits can be dealt with in a speedy manner and free of charge.

4. Other Issues

4.1 Settlement of disputes

The APIC foresees two kinds of disputes that may require settlement (article 31 and 32):

- 1. disputes with third parties and
- 2. disputes on the inter-operation or application of the *APIC*.

The second type of dispute can involve a person referred to in the *APIC* who, by reason of his or her official position or function in connection with the Court, enjoys immunity, if such immunity has not been waived.

The *APIC* sets out the procedure to solve a dispute of interpretation (article 32). First, all differences between two or more States Parties or between the Court and a State Party shall be settled by consultation, negotiation or agreed mode of settlement. If the difference is not settled within three months, it shall, at the request of either party, be referred to an arbitral tribunal. Such procedure is set out in article 32(3)-(6), which is final and binding on the Parties.

The Court shall, without prejudice to the powers and responsibilities of the Assembly of States Parties, make provisions for appropriate modes of settlement. While the Court has legal personality, the Court should not act when it did not enjoy the approval of the Assembly. The support is needed because financial and budgetary implications fall under the purview of the Assembly. Article 32 leaves the dispute resolution mechanism to be drafted by the Court and approved by the Assembly.

4.2 Amendments to APIC

Any State Party can propose an amendment to the *APIC* (article 36). The procedure involves sending a written communication of such a proposal to the Secretariat of the Assembly of States Parties, who will then circulate it to all States Parties and the Bureau of the Assembly with a request that they notify him or her whether they favour a Review Conference to discuss the proposal. If, within three months, a majority of States Parties favour a Review Conference, the Secretariat informs the Bureau of the Assembly who will convene such a conference with the next regular session or special session of the Assembly.

APPENDIX I Table Summary of Privileges and Immunities

Privilege & immunity	Judges, Prosecutor, Deputy Prosecutor, Registrar	Deputy Registrar, staff of Office of Prosecutors and Registry	Personnel locally recruited	Counsel and persons assisting Defence Counsel	Witnesses	Victims	Expert	Other persons required to be present at the seat of the Court
legal protection								
from personal arrest and detention	yes, derived from Vienna Convention	yes	no	yes	yes	yes	yes	yes
from legal process of every kind in respect of words spoken or written and acts performed by them	yes, in their official capacity	yes, in their official capacity	yes, in their official capacity	yes, in their official capacity	yes, in the course of their testimony	yes, in the course of their appearance before the court	yes, in the course of their performance of their functions for the court	yes, in the course of their appearance before the court
communication privileges								
inviolability of all official papers and documents in whatever form and materials	yes, derived from Vienna Convention	yes	no	yes, with materials relating to the exercise of his or her function	yes, relating to their testimony	no	yes, relating to their functions for the court	no
right to receive and send papers and documents in whatever form	not expressly stated but derived from Vienna Convention	not expressly stated	no	yes, for communication in purs to function as counsel	yes, for communications with the court and counsel	no	yes, for communication with the court	no
taxation privileges								
exempt from taxation on all salaries, etc	yes	yes	no	no	no	no	no	no
period of residency should not be calculated for taxes	yes	no	no	yes	no	no	no	no
right to import free of duties and taxes	not expressly stated	yes	no	no	no	no	no	no
travel/freedom of movement							no	
exemption from immigration restrictions, alien registration and national service	yes, derived from Vienna Convention	yes, includes family for immigration and alien exemption	no	yes for immigration and alien registration but not exempt for national service	yes for immigration and alien registration but not exempt for national service	yes for immigration and alien registration but not exempt for national service	yes, for immigration and alien registration but not exempt for national service	yes for immigration and alien registration but not exempt for national service
currency and exchange facilities	yes, as accorded to heads of missions	yes, as accorded to officials of comparable rank of diplomatic missions	no	yes, as accorded to representatives of foreign governments on temporary official mission	no	no	yes	no
personal baggage- exemption from seizure and inspection	yes	yes	no	yes	only exempt from seizure not inspection	only exempt from seizure not inspection	yes	only exempt from seizure not inspection
protection and repatriation facilities	yes, also includes family	yes, also includes family	no	yes	no	yes	no	-

Appendix II Selected Bibliography and Resources

International Documents and Treaties

Agreement on the Privileges and Immunities of the International Tribunal for the Law of the Sea

Agreement Between the United Nations and the Kingdom of the Netherlands concerning the Headquarters of the International Tribunal for the Prosecution of Persons Responsible for Serious Violations of International Humanitarian Law Committed in the Territory of the Former Yugoslavia Since 1991, found at www.un.org/icty/basic/statut/S1994_848-849.htm

Convention on the Privileges and Immunities of the United Nations, adopted by the General Assembly on 13 February 1946. found at <u>http://www.unog.cg/archives/un_priv.htm</u>

Final Act of the United Nations Diplomatic Conference of Plenipotentiaries on the Establishment of an International Criminal Court, A/CONF.183/10, 17 July 1998

Protocol on the Privileges and Immunities of the International Seabed Authority, found at <u>http://untreaty.un.org/English/notpubl/seabed2_eng.htm</u>

Rome Statute of the International Criminal Court, A/CONF.183/9, 17 July 1998

Vienna Convention on Diplomatic Relations, 1961, found at <u>www.un.org/law/ilc/texts/diplomat.htm</u>

Materials from the Working Group on Privileges and Immunities of the Court

Assembly of States Parties, Proposal submitted by Mexico in relation to a draft agreement on the privileges and immunities of the ICC, 03 September 2002, ICC-ASP/1/C.1/L.1

Preparatory Commission for the International Criminal Court, *Draft Agreement on the Privileges and Immunities of the ICC Discussion paper proposed by the Coordinator*, 07 August 2000, PCNICC/2000/WGAPIC/RT.1

Preparatory Commission for the International Criminal Court, *Draft Agreement on the Privileges and Immunities of the ICC*, 09 August 2000, PCNICC/2000/WGAPIC/L.1

Preparatory Commission for the International Criminal Court, *Draft Agreement on the Privileges and Immunities of the ICC*, 22 March 2001, PCNICC/2001/L.1/Rev.1/Add.3

Preparatory Commission for the International Criminal Court, *Draft Agreement on the Privileges and Immunities of the ICC*, 17 August 2001, PCNICC/2000/WGAPIC/RT.2

Preparatory Commission for the International Criminal Court, *Draft Agreement on the Privileges and Immunities of the ICC, Report of the Working Group*, 03 October 2001, PCNICC/2001/WGAPIC/L.1

Preparatory Commission for the International Criminal Court, *Draft Agreement on the Privileges and Immunities of the ICC*, 08 January 2002, PCNICC/2001/1/Add.3

Unapproved Minutes of the Working Group on Privileges and Immunities of the Court prepared by CICC Privileges and Immunities Team found archives of icc-info.

Articles and papers

Amnesty International "The International Criminal Court: Concerns at the seventh session of the Preparatory Commission (26 February to March 2001)"

Amnesty International "The International Criminal Court: Concerns at the eighth session of the Preparatory Commission (24 September to October 2001)"

CICC "Issues Relevant to Drafting of the Rome Supplementary to the Rome Statute" found at www.iccnow.org/html/cicc20000608.html.

Fariello Laux, Maria "Background Paper for the Consultation with Representatives of the International Criminal Tribunals for former Yugoslavia and Rwanda on Privileges and Immunities of the International Criminal Court" paper prepared for the Centre for the Development of International Law and the World Federalist Movement (2001)

International Criminal Defence Attorneys Association "Protection of the Rights of the Defence in the Agreement on Privileges and Immunities of the International Criminal Court, With Special Attention to the Needs of the Defence Outside the Host Country" (February 2001)

Mochochoko, Phakiso "*The Agreement on Privileges and Immunities of the International Criminal Court*" Fordham International Law Journal 25/3 (March 2002) p. 638.

Oosterveld, V., Perry, M. and McManus, J. "*The Cooperation of States with the International Criminal Court*" Fordham International Law Journal 25/3 (March 2002) p. 767.

Rolf Luder, Sascha "The Legal Nature of the International Criminal Court and the Emergence of Supranational Elements in International Criminal Justice" 84 IRRC March 79-83 (2002)

Szasz, Paul and Ingadottir, Thordis "The UN and the ICC: The Immunity of the UN and Its Officials" 14 Leiden Journal of International Law 876-885 (2001)

Wirth, Steffen "Immunities, Related Problems, and Article 98 of the Rome Statute" 12 Criminal Law Forum, 429-458 (2001)

Legislation

Crimes Against Humanity and War Crimes Act, S.C. 2000, c. C-24, assented to 29 June 2000, entered into force 23 October 2000, Canada, section 54.

International Criminal Court Act 2001, Chapter 17, enacted 11 May 2001, United Kingdom, Schedule 1.

International Criminal Court Bill, introduced July 2001, South Africa, section 6.

International Crimes and International Criminal Court Act 2000, New Zealand, section 183.

Appendix III The Agreement on Privileges and Immunities

(SEE NEXT PAGE)